

#### DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF

**COUNCIL SUMMONS** 

DYDD IAU, 21 MEHEFIN 2018

**GWYS Y CYNGOR** 

THURSDAY, 21 JUNE 2018,

# PAPURAU ATODOL

Eitem		Approx Time	Max Time Allotted
6	Cyhoeddiadau'r Arglwydd Faer (Tudalennau 5 - 10)	4.45 pm	5 mins
16	Adroddiad Blynyddol Pwyllgor Craffu Adolygu Polisi a Pherfformiad 2017-2018 (Tudalennau 11 - 44)	6.35 pm	10 mins
18	Cynnig 1 (Tudalennau 45 - 52)	7.45 pm	30 mins
19	Cynnig 2 (Tudalennau 53 - 60)	8.15 pm	30 mins
20	Cwestiynau Llafar (Tudalennau 61 - 66)	8.45 pm	60 mins

This document is available in Welsh / Mae'r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

# CYNGOR CAERDYDD

**CARDIFF COUNCIL** 



## COUNCIL:

## 21 JUNE 2018

## Lord Mayors Announcements – Council 21<sup>st</sup> June

#### **Events and Visitors**

The Lord Mayor welcomed the first five yachts from the Volvo Ocean Race to arrive from Rhode Island in the early hours of the morning on 29<sup>th</sup> May. Supported by her Consort the Lord Mayor personally welcomed each team and presented them with a Welsh Gift and Champagne to welcome their arrival.

On Friday 8<sup>th</sup> June the Lord Mayor attended the Volvo Ocean Race Inport- Racing and Prize Giving Ceremony and the Awards Night dinner which offered the opportunity to reflect upon the previous leg from Rhode Island to Cardiff while enjoying local hospitality and culture. The Lord Mayor participated in the race handover ceremony at the Volvo Race Village Pavilion on Sunday 10<sup>the</sup> June where she was able to observe the Sailors Parade. Before attending the handover ceremony for the departing yachts The Lord Mayor also hosted a Courtesy Visit by the Lord Mayor of Gothenburg Lena Malm at the Mansion House.

The Lord Mayor has attended three Royal Gun Salutes over the past month held at Cardiff Castle and The Pierhead, celebrating HM Queen's Coronation Day, HM Queen's Official Birthday and HRH Duke of Edinburgh's Birthday.

The Filipino Community gave the Lord Mayor a warm welcome at their 120<sup>th</sup> Independence Day Flag Raising event on 12<sup>th</sup> June at Cardiff Castle and the Lord Mayor welcomed new citizens to Cardiff at a British Citizenship on Wednesday 6th June.

The Lord Mayor and Consort also attended an event celebrating the Centenary of the Royal Air Force at the Senedd on 13<sup>th</sup> June and a screening of a documentary by the Believe Charity supporting Organ Donation.

On 15<sup>th</sup> June the Lord Mayor acted as a judge and presented medals for the LEGO Education First Lego League Heat and on the previous evening the Lord Mayor attended the 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary Service celebrating the wonderful work the Cardiff Street Pastors do for the City.

#### Lord Mayors Charity

The Lord Mayor of Cardiff's nominated charity for 2018/19 is the Noah's Ark Charity Tiny Lives Appeal. The Lord Mayor has pledged to help the charity raise much needed funds throughout the mayoral year to purchase items such as ventilators to help keep premature or critically ill babies to breathe.

A number of events have been planned to support this wonderful charity over the forthcoming months and we would be grateful for the support of Members. The Lord Mayor is hosting a Coffee Morning at the Mansion House on 6<sup>th</sup> July – tickets £5.00. A Cricket Match is being organised by ClIr Driscoll on 26<sup>th</sup> July at St Fagan's Cricket Club, tickets £20 for players, £5.00 for spectators. The Lord Mayor is also hosting a Salmon Luncheon Fundraising Event on 29<sup>th</sup> July at Marleigh Lodge, Tickets £25.00. The Noah's Ark Charity have organised a Family Fun Walk on 16<sup>th</sup> September which will start at 10:00am from the Norwegian Church. All are welcome.

Information on donating to the Noah's Ark Tiny Lives Appeal can be found on the Cardiff Council Website <u>www.cardiff.gov.uk</u> or to book tickets for events log onto the Noah's Ark Tiny Lives Appeal Just Giving Page.

https://www.justgiving.com/campaigns/charity/chfw/lordmayorofcardiff

### **Recognition and Awards – June 2018**

#### **Inspire Cymru Winners**

Congratulations to Anne Newbury and Shireen Ahmend, from the Council's Essential Skills Team, for being crowned Inspire Cymru 2018 WINNERS for their dedication to adult learning and supporting hundreds of our front-line staff to become 'digital by default.'

The Inspire! Awards, took place on the 6th June, ahead of Adult Learners' Week (18 -24 June), to celebrate the achievements of exceptional individuals, projects and organisations who've shown passion, commitment and drive to improve themselves, their community or workplace through learning, often in the face of difficult circumstances.

The Council received the 'Skills at Work' award, which aim to highlight opportunities to continue developing and learning new skills as an adult, and celebrate the positive impact of adult education on skills and employability.

So far, more than 115 staff have enrolled on short courses, which are accredited by Agored Cymru, reaching all ages, backgrounds and abilities and more than 20 have progressed onto waste management apprenticeships, with 12 now having a Sustainable Resource Management qualification.

#### **Green Dragon Environmental Standard**

The Council has successfully retained its corporate registration to the Green Dragon Environmental Standard - Level 3.

Our Co2 emissions for 2016/17 have fallen compared to the previous year, resulting in overall savings of approximately £332,500.

Some of the improvements in our environmental performance are due to changes in equipment and a reduction in vehicles and buildings, but a significant part of our ongoing improvement is down to staff having an improved attitude towards our resources and in particular continuing to make concerted efforts to reduce energy use and waste. Thank you to everyone for their help.

#### Radnor Primary produce best Car Free Day clip

Congratulations to the pupils at Radnor Primary on their fantastic video as part out of the Council's recent #CarFreeDIFF schools campaign!

You can check out the children's video, which features their ideas on how to make where they live better, on the Council's You Tube and Facebook accounts.

The pupil's efforts have been with rewarded with a £100 voucher for the school to put towards an initiative or equipment. Well done to everyone who took part.

#### **Congratulations to Springwood Primary**

Springwood Primary School in Llanedeyrn is celebrating after education watchdog, Estyn rated the school as either Excellent or Good in all the areas inspected - the top ratings possible.

Estyn visited the school to see how it is performing in terms of: standards; wellbeing

and attitudes to learning; teaching and learning experiences; care, support and guidance; and leadership and management.

Its report recognised the school's care, support and guidance, describing the ethos throughout the school as 'exceptionally strong'.

Estyn found strengths throughout the school's teaching, learning and standards, concluding that pupils 'make good progress' and 'achieve well as they move through the school.

#### Schools success for their GDPR raps!

GDPR has been a hot topic of conversation for the past few weeks, with the changes in the law impacting on young people above 13 years old.

If you haven't seen them already, I would encourage you all to watch the pupils of Willows High and Ysgol Glantaf's tremendous efforts in their exclusive #GDPR raps, which go a long way in explaining in simple terms some of the complexities around GDPR that affect younger people.

Both videos can be found on the Council's You Tube channel and the Council's Facebook page. Well done to all the pupils who performed fantastically in the videos.

#### Queen's Birthday Honours List

We are delighted that the following citizens of Cardiff have been honored in this year's Queen's Birthday Honours List

Order	Honour	Given to	Citation
Commanders of the Order of the British Empire	CBE	Mr Kenneth Martin FOLLET	Cardiff Born author for services to Literature and to charity.
Commanders of the Order of the British Empire	CBE	Professor Graham HUTCHINGS FRS	Director of the Cardiff Catalysis Institute for services to Chemistry and to Innovation.
Commanders of the Order of the British Empire	CBE	Professor Billie HUNTER	Professor of Midwifery Cardiff University. For services to Midwifery and to Midwifery Education in the UK and Europe.
Commanders of the Order of the British Empire	CBE	Mr Huw Vaughan THOMAS	Auditor General Wales. For services to Public Audit and Accountability in Wales.
Commanders of the Order of the British Empire	CBE	Mr Alun Howard TUCKER	Lately Member, UN International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia. For services to International Justice.

Order	Honour	Given to	Citation
Officers of the Order of the British Empire	OBE	Mrs Marlize PALMER	Departmental Records Officer, Welsh Government. For services to Information Management.
Officers of the Order of the British Empire	OBE	Dr Stephen THOMAS	Principal of Medetec, Independent Medical Device Consultant (Wound Dressings) and Medical Writer. For services to the NHS.
Members of the Order of the British Empire	MBE	Dr Richard Ian DEWAR	Consultant Physician, Cwm Taf University Health Board. For services to the NHS, particularly Stroke Patients.
Members of the Order of the British Empire	MBE	Professor Haley Louise GOMEZ	Head of Outreach and Engagement, School of Physics and Astronomy, Cardiff University. For services to Astrophysics, Astronomy and Outreach Activities.
Members of the Order of the British Empire	MBE	Mrs Ruth Helen JACKSON	Headteacher, Kitchener Primary School, Cardiff. For services to Education.
Members of the Order of the British Empire	MBE	Ms Avril LEWIS	Managing Director, ESTnet and Member, Welsh Government Information and Communication Technology Sector Panel. For services to the Technology Industry in Wales.
Medallist of the Order of the British Empire	BEM	Mrs Carol May COLEMAN	For services to Amateur Theatre and to the community in Rhiwbina.
Medallist of the Order of the British Empire	BEM	Mrs Eluned Margaret Ramsey Clifton-Davies	First Aid Trainer and Assessor, St John Ambulance Wales. For voluntary service to First Aid Training. (Cardiff)

Order	Honour	Given to	Citation
Medallist of the Order of the British Empire	BEM	Robert John Lawrence	For political and public service
Medallist of the Order of the British Empire	BEM	Ms Yvette Suzanne DUVAL	BAME Mental Health Manager, Diverse Cymru. For services to the BAME community in Wales
Medallist of the Order of the British Empire	BEM	Dr Hasmukhlal Vadilal SHAH	For services to the Hindu community in Cardiff.

Queen's Fire Service Medal (QFSM) – England and Wales			
Huw Dennis JAKEWAY	For Distinguished Services to the Fire		
Chief Fire Officer	and Rescue		
South Wales Fire and Rescue Service	Service		
Queen's Police Medal (QPM) – England and Wales			
Chief Superintendent Sally Ann BURKE	For Distinguished Services to the South		
	Wales Police		
Mr. Paul Francis Dominic HURLEY,	For Distinguished Services to the South		
Lately Detective Chief Superintendent,	Wales Police		
Sergeant Lindsey SWEENEY	For Distinguished Services to the South		
	Wales Police		
Queen's Ambulance Medal (QAM) – England and Wales			
Jason Frederick COLLINS, Finance	For Distinguished Services to the Welsh		
Manager,	Ambulance Service		

Eitem Agenda 16



# Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee

# Annual Report 2017–2018

June 2018



**Cardiff Council** 

This document is available in Welsh Mae'r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg.

## CONTENTS

Committee Membership	3
Chair's Foreword	4
Overview	6
Committee Responsibilities	6
Work Programme 2017/18 – the statistics	7
Highlights of 2017/18	9
Partnership Scrutiny	9
Joint Scrutiny	11
Policy Development/Consultation	13
Pre-Decision Scrutiny	16
Monitoring Improvement	22
Short Scrutiny	23
Briefings	24
Task & Finish Inquiries	27
Call-ins	29
Future Work Programming Opportunities 2018/19	
Committee Terms of Reference	

## **Committee Membership**



Councillor David Walker Chair



Councillor Rodney Berman



Councillor Bernie Bowen Thomson



Councillor Joe Boyle



Councillor Norma Mackie



Councillor Stephen Cunnah



Councillor Rod McKerllch



Councillor Owen Jones



Councillor Jim Murphy

## **Chair's Foreword**

The start of a new Council term is an important one for Scrutiny. It is an opportunity for new and experienced councillors to meet and work together in a non-partisan cross-party setting.

There is usually a large number of new policies and strategies to examine, and that has been the case as the Committee took on its wide ranging brief. There have been numerous opportunities for non-executive members to contribute to decision-making and take part in the kind of open governance so appreciated by external auditors and the wider public.

In executing our statutory responsibilities under the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 we were able to meet and question the Public Services Board (PSB) about its Well-being Plan and objectives for Cardiff. This is an area of responsibility that will grow in importance as the PSB puts in place arrangements to deliver the Plan.

The Corporate Plan signals what the Administration is seeking to achieve, and at what pace. The Committee saw an opportunity to involve other scrutiny chairs in a joint scrutiny focussed on target setting for the Plan. Such engagement produced frank and useful input, facilitated by the Leader's willingness to engage in an equally frank and open manner.

An important role for all scrutiny committees is to contribute to policy development, ideally at an early stage. For us this included Capital Ambition and its delivery, Senior Management Arrangements, and the Workforce Strategy. Members embraced the task of working through often complex proposals, providing challenge and suggestions for improvement.

The Committee also took the opportunity to revisit a long-standing topic of concern, Sickness Absence, where we noted that small but important improvements made in previous years had started to reverse. There are cost implications for issues such as this, and our scrutiny linked usefully with the wider, in depth, examinations we

undertook of the Budget Strategy, monitoring at month 6 2017/18, and the draft Budget proposals for 2018/19.

Outside the committee's regular business, there were opportunities to undertake two task and finish inquiries, Customer Leadership published in May 2018 and Managing the Estate under a Corporate Landlord Model published in April 2018.

My appreciation goes to all who supported the scrutiny process during the year, including cabinet members, directors and senior officers as well as guests from external organisations. The efforts of the Committee Members are very much appreciated, including the role undertaken by Councillor Joe Boyle in chairing the Corporate Landlord Model task and finish inquiry.

Principal Scrutiny Officer Nicola Newton has faultlessly guided the Committee through its wide ranging and sometimes complex workload, for which the Committee expresses its appreciation.

I know that in 2018/19 the Committee will address further important work and, in so doing, will seek to contribute to the Council's overall effectiveness in delivering for its customers and other stakeholders.



les

Councillor David Walker Chair, Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee

Page 13

#### **Overview**

With the 2017 Administration firmly in place, and the birth of Capital Ambition, in July 2017, the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee welcomed new and experienced Members, in pursuit of open and transparent challenge, to ensure the best services for the citizens of Cardiff. For many years Cardiff's positive scrutiny culture and function has been an effective part of the Council's democratic decision-making process. The function ensures non-executive Members have an opportunity to bring their own independent expertise to bear on strategy and policy issues, working with the Cabinet to improve services. In this Annual Report we reflect on scrutiny undertaken in the first year, and some of the new developments that have grown out of a willingness on both Cabinet and Scrutiny parts to work together to deliver services against a backdrop of ever decreasing resources.

For clarity, this Annual Report covers the work of the Committee since its inception in July 2017, to the end of the municipal year in May 2018. It explains the many different types of scrutiny the Committee has undertaken in this period, categorises the various topics considered, and presents the highlights and outcomes of its work in 2017/18, from page 8 onwards.

## **Committee Responsibilities**

The Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee's Terms of Reference confer upon it two distinct scrutiny roles. Firstly, an overarching responsibility to scrutinise, monitor and review the overall corporate performance and improvement of the Council. Secondly, to scrutinise, monitor and review the effectiveness of specific functions, such as the Corporate Planning and Improvement framework, the Capital Ambition Delivery Programme, Finance, ICT, Human Resources, Governance, Legal Services, Property, Procurement, Customer Services and the Public Services Board.

During this administrative year there has been a review of senior management arrangements. This means that within the new organisational structure the Committee's Terms of Reference<sup>1</sup> determine that its responsibilities fall within three of the Council's Directorates; as follows

The **Corporate Resources Directorate** falls within the Committee's remit in its entirety and comprises; *Commissioning and Procurement*; *Finance*; *Human Resources; Digitalisation and Customer Services (including* Corporate Complaints and Connect to Cardiff (C2C); *Performance & Partnerships (including Bilingual Cardiff).* 

The **Economic Development Directorate** includes *Corporate Landlord*, *Strategic Estates* (including both the *operational* and non-operational portfolios), *Facilities Management* and *International Policy*.

The **Governance and Legal Services Directorate** falls within the Committee's remit in its entirety and comprises; *Committee & Members' Services; Electoral Services; Equalities, Glamorgan Archives; Legal Services; and Scrutiny Services.* 

## Work Programme 2017/18 - the statistics

During the municipal year May 2017 – May 2018 the Committee held 9 public meetings as programmed in the Council's calendar of meetings, and one unprogrammed call-in meeting in April 2018. Over the year, 25 reports have been scrutinised by the full Committee, covering a wide variety of topics. This activity culminated in 19 letters to the Cabinet and Senior Management

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Terms of Reference for this Committee can be found on page 31.

Team, sharing the Committee's comments, concerns and recommendations following the scrutinies. In response the Committee received 12 letters from the Cabinet.

The Committee has enjoyed full Membership throughout the year, and excellent attendance. All nine seats have been occupied, with just one change when the Committee welcomed Councillor Owen Jones in February 2018, replacing Councillor Frank Jacobsen. At the start of the year all 9 Members volunteered to participate in task and finish inquiries, enabling the Committee to deliver 2 inquiry reports to the Cabinet on important topics; firstly, *Managing the Estate under a Corporate Landlord Model*, and secondly *Customer Leadership*. This output required Members attendance at an additional 11 informal evidence gathering meetings.

Additionally, the Committee agreed to establish a Performance Panel, for which 6 Members volunteered, and which met twice during the year. The grand total of meetings of this Scrutiny Committee, to which its Members committed in 2017/18, was therefore 23.

The success of Scrutiny is dependent on the capacity, skills and development of those Members that sit on Scrutiny Committees. At the start of the Administration the scrutiny team organised a programme of training events to enable new members to gain an overview and understanding of their roles, activities and scrutiny processes. This included:

- Introduction to Scrutiny (*June'17*)
- Questioning Skills (July'17)
- Budget Training (Feb'18)

The Committee's proceedings have been webcast twice, in November 2017 and February 2018, viewed by a total of 135 interested parties. The Committee looks forward to continuing and improving on such transparent engagement, and to playing its part in contributing to the Council's webcasting

## Page 16

performance indicator. Similarly, the Scrutiny function has developed and implemented a performance indicator "*The number of external contributors to Scrutiny meetings*" to highlight the breadth and depth of evidence informing scrutiny work. As at the 31 March 2018 scrutiny committees had received evidence directly from over 250 external witnesses.

To support its work the Committee has benefitted from one full time scrutiny officer, and a proportion of the scrutiny researcher and scrutiny support officer posts. High level oversight of its work has been through the Director of Legal and Governance Services, in the absence of an Operational Manager.

The Committee has used a variety of approaches to examine the topics scrutinised. All topics are listed below, analysed under the relevant type of scrutiny, and a selection have been highlighted for their impact.

## Highlights of 2017/18

## **Partnership Scrutiny**

Where the Committee has performed the statutory role introduced by the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 and conferred upon it by Council. In 2017/18 this included:

- Public Services Board progress report & draft Well-being objectives (July'17)
- Public Services Board Well-being Plan. (Nov'17)

#### **Public Services Board Scrutiny**

The Council and its partners are subject to duties under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG). The Act seeks to ensure that the governance arrangements in public bodies for improving the well-being of Wales take into account the needs of future generations. The aim is for public bodies to improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of Wales in accordance with detailed sustainable development principles and well-being goals prescribed by the Act.

The WFG Act established a statutory Public Services Board (PSB) for each local authority area in Wales, the core members of which include the Local Authority; the Local Health Board; the Welsh Fire and Rescue Authority; and Natural Resources Wales. It also conferred a statutory remit for Scrutiny:

- To review decisions made or actions taken by the PSB;
- To review the Board's governance arrangements;
- To make reports to the Board regarding its function or governance arrangements; and
- To require PSB members to attend Committee.

The Council's Constitution confers the statutory responsibility for upholding the requirements of the Act upon the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee for scrutiny of the Cardiff Public Services Board (PSB). Therefore the Committee continues to perform strategic overview scrutiny of the PSB's performance going forward.

In July 2017 the new Committee received a progress report and outline of the PSB's draft Well-being objectives. Members commended Cardiff's longstanding record of non-statutory partnership working, which continues to prove an excellent basis for taking forward the statutory requirements of the WFG Act and welcomed an offer for the Chair to attend the PSB from time to time to establish strong lines of open accountability, and benefit both parties.

As the Well-being Plan came to fruition, in November 2017 the Committee was delighted to welcome broad representation from Cardiff's PSB partners, Cardiff & Vale Health Board, Natural Resources Wales, South Wales Fire Service, South Wales Police, and Cardiff Third Sector Council. Following the scrutiny the Committee wrote to the Leader, as Chair of the PSB expressing the importance that there is a strong correlation between Cardiff's Well-being Plan and the Council's Corporate Plan for Delivering Capital Ambition, and that all partners' corporate plans align with and demonstrate clear links to the Well-being Plan. Members felt it would be vital that the Plan includes clear targets, that all partner bodies should be spending proportionately on supporting partnership arrangements, and critically everyone should have an equal chance to benefit from Cardiff's success.

The Well-being Plan was subsequently launched in May 2018, and the Committee plans to scrutinise the governance arrangements of the PSB in June 2018.

## **Joint Scrutiny**

Where the Committee has joined together with one or more scrutiny committees to examine a topic of a cross-cutting nature to enable collective consideration of the issues. In 2017/18 this included:

• Joint scrutiny of the Corporate Plan 2018-21 target setting (Feb'18)

This year there was an inaugural joint scrutiny of the Corporate Plan target setting process, hosted by the Committee's Performance Panel. All Scrutiny Chairs were invited to participate and a valuable informal engagement session supported effective scrutiny of the Corporate Planning process. The session considered proposed targets in some detail, providing an opportunity to feed cross scrutiny committee observations into Cardiff's final draft Corporate Plan 2018- 21, before it was presented to formal Cabinet.

A key issue raised by the joint panel was that sometimes targets and budgets are not achieved and Members encouraged that targets set should be stretching but attainable, to avoid a projected overspend as early as Quarter 1 2017/18. The joint scrutiny panel was of the view that there was an opportunity to ensure budget savings aspirations were firmly reflected in the performance targets set out in the Corporate Plan. Members pointed out that the Corporate Plan is what the organisation wants to achieve, however it can fail if the organisation views performance management as separate from budget management. Members felt it should be possible to frame financial targets as an integral part of the Corporate Plan, and encouraged the Cabinet to consider this. Also, they should understand from reading the Plan, which KPI's are indicative of the real pressures on the budget.

Other areas highlighted included the need for more ambition in setting a target of 94.5% attendance for secondary schools; a suggestion that to increase the total number of visitors to Cardiff would require a larger than 2% increase in the number of staying visitors; and concern about the levels and cost to the Council of sickness absence, particularly in areas such as waste management.

In response, the Leader considered the Corporate Plan had been further strengthened as a result of this engagement; and was in full agreement with the Panel's view that financial targets form an integral part of the Corporate Planning and Budget Setting process, confirming that, in the same way as the Corporate Plan and the Budget are developed in tandem, the achievement of savings targets and performance reporting will be monitored and reported concurrently. Going forward the achievement of savings would be reported on a quarterly basis as part of the published Budget Monitoring Report. Similarly, the Performance Reports will continue to be presented on a quarterly basis. Taken together they will provide a regular update on achievements against budget targets, policy objectives and performance measures.

### **Policy Development / Consultation Scrutiny**

Where the Committee has contributed to the Council's policy development processes by

12

Page 20

#### considering draft policy documents. In 2017/18 this included;

- Capital Ambition policy priorities (July'17)
- Senior Management Arrangements (Oct'17)
- Delivering Capital Ambition (Nov'17)
- Central Transport Services (May'18)
- Workforce Strategy (May'18)

#### Capital Ambition – Policy priorities of the Administration

The inaugural meeting of the new Committee was briefed on the Administration's policy programme and associated delivery commitments entitled 'Capital Ambition'. The Committee heard how these ambitions would be translated into the Council's strategic policy, organisational development and budgetary framework.

The 'Capital Ambition' policy statement set out a programme of action to continue to drive the city economy forward whilst ensuring that the benefits of success are felt by all residents. In delivering its Capital Ambition, the Administration's focus is on four main areas: Working for Cardiff; Working for Wales; Working for the Future; Working for Public Services.

This briefing proved a critical introduction and context setting to Members understanding of the Council's strategic framework and the work of the Committee in year one. The refreshed policy and delivery framework would contain the following key components: A **Corporate Plan** 2018-19 setting out the Council's objectives; a **Budget Strategy** reworked to support the delivery of the administration's priorities; A **Programme of Change** setting out how the Council's new 3-year development programme will be reshaped to deliver the commitments contained in the 'Capital Ambition' document; The **Wellbeing Plan** to be launched by the PSB in April 2018; The **Performance Management Framework,** translating the 'Capital Ambition' document into performance objectives and clear milestones; and a programme of **Consultation and Engagement**: to support the implementation of the administration's policy ambitions.

#### **Senior Management Arrangements**

In October 2017 the Committee was consulted on proposals following a full analysis and review of senior management arrangements by the Chief Executive. The Committee welcomed the opportunity to add scrutiny's voice to the consultation process, welcoming cost neutrality of the proposals, and the new posts of Head of Democratic Services, and Chief Digital Officer.

The Committee felt there was scope for further market research to ensure good quality candidates are attracted to Cardiff. It was concerned that under the proposed new arrangements the Director of Social Services did not sit at a Corporate Director level, and highlighted the risk of public perception that the Council is spending too much on senior salaries.

#### **Delivering Capital Ambition**

In December 2017, the Committee recorded its appreciation for the Cabinet's inclusive approach to scrutiny engagement with the Council's important strategic plans whilst in a development stage. The Committee reinforced the importance of a strong alignment between all planning documents that comprise the performance framework, and that the Committee would be looking for strong links between the Well-being Plan, the four-year Capital Ambition programme and the Corporate Plan. Importantly Members urged that Capital Ambition should work for the whole City, place communities front and centre, and focus on inequalities, particularly of health and opportunity.

Members stressed the importance of organisational culture embracing digitalisation, re-iterating that consistency of customer service organisation-wide is key, as is breaking down directorate silos to deliver a seamless council service.

In response, the Leader committed to continuing early engagement, and cooperated in delivering a session focussed on target setting with the Committee's new Performance Panel involving all Scrutiny Committee Chairs, considering it a an important opportunity to outline and raise awareness of the target setting process.

#### **Central Transport Services**

In May 2018 the Committee considered progress on a proposed new model for the delivery of Central Transport Services. Following the scrutiny the Committee advised the Cabinet Member for Investment and Development that they concur with the value of exploring engagement with an external commercial partner to improve efficiency and reduce costs, despite such a partnership bringing new risks to the Council. Members urged that proposals for such an approach include a clear indication of how success will be measured. The Committee's advice was the reduction of risk, and a share in any profits.

Members agreed with the proposal that budgets for vehicle maintenance should sit within service areas, as this will provide greater accountability, stressing the importance of those budgets factoring in overhead costs such as depreciation and the cost of replacement at the end of a vehicle's lifespan.

Importantly the Committee considered there is an opportunity for more effective marketing planning and targeting to make full use of the facilities.

#### Workforce Strategy

The Committee was afforded an opportunity for policy development scrutiny of the Workforce Strategy in May 2018. Members were pleased to hear that the holistic approach aims to strengthen the links between business, financial and workforce planning, with an intended outcome of improving performance and thereby customer service. Following the scrutiny the Committee referred the Cabinet Member Finance, Modernisation and Performance, and senior officers to the recommendations of its Customer Leadership task and finish inquiry. Members felt there should be greater clarity of the issues the strategy would need to address, such as any visible gaps across the organisation where it is proving difficult to recruit and retain staff. Members were concerned that analysing service area data to develop the strategy would require significant resources.

The Committee highlighted the importance of building a loyal workforce and attracting talent, and as such suggested: assets such as the Castle and St David's Hall be used as a benefit to attract and retain staff; promotion of agile working; support for membership of the Stonewall Cymru network, and other employee networks (BME, Carers, Disability, LGBT, Women's network).

The Committee also established the importance of the action plans that will sit beneath the Workforce Strategy requested sight of both, and resolved to monitor what is achieved six months on from its implementation.

## **Pre-decision Scrutiny**

Where the Committee has evaluated and commented on policy proposals before they are considered by the Cabinet, providing the Cabinet with an understanding of Scrutiny Member's views prior to making their decision. In 2017/18 this included;

• Mental Health Policy (Sept '17)

- Socially Responsible Procurement Policy (Sept'17)
- Delivering Capital Ambition (Dec '17)
- Draft Corporate Plan 2018-21(Jan '18)
- Draft Budget Proposals 2018-19 (Feb '18)

#### Mental Health Policy

In September 2017 the Committee welcomed the Council's initiative and focus on Mental Health with the development of a new Mental Health Policy. Given that 21% of all Council sickness absence is stress or mental health related, the Committee's overarching view was that a manager must possess the skills to identify the links between stress and mental health, catch issues early, and apply interventions to maintain a balance between sickness absence and productivity. In addition consistent approach to delivering the Mental Health policy across all Directorates was required, and therefore there should be a mandatory Mental Health Awareness training module for all managers.

In response the Cabinet Member reassured the Committee its recommendations had informed changes to the final policy. In particular, the aims of the policy now reflected the proactive management of health and wellbeing by including the following lines:

- Promote mental health and wellbeing in the workplace by considering the sources of pressure and causes of mental distress at work, not solely dealing with the symptoms.
- Ensure that work place pressure is managed through a risk assessment process in line with the Council's Stress Management Policy.

The Committees observations resulted in a range of additions to the policy including a description of the responsibilities of the Council's Occupational Health Service; training available through the Cardiff Academy; a specific link to the Mental Health Foundation; a commitment to explore developing a mandatory Mental Health Awareness training module for managers through

## Page 25

the All Wales Academy; exploration of the introduction of therapies to support employees, for example, Sports Therapy massage sessions; working closely with the Council's Health and Safety team to review the Stress Management Policy, and in particular to take account of advice and guidance published by the HSE since this policy was introduced.

The Committee will programme in-depth scrutiny of the Employee Health and Well-being programme, particularly how the occupational health programme has been performing for the Council in 2018.

#### **Socially Responsible Procurement Policy**

In September 2017 the Committee welcomed the socially responsible approach to procurement, particularly the news that 55% of the Council's £390m spend is with local suppliers, and that 4,000 of its 9,000 suppliers are small value companies. Members reported to the Cabinet they consider it important the Council continues to signpost smaller companies to bid application assistance, where it cannot offer support itself, and that there should be evidence that procurement decisions have been ethically based rather than price based.

In response the Cabinet Member for Finance, Modernisation and Performance confirmed 56% of the Council's suppliers are SME's. The *Selling to the Council Guide* continues to be promoted which aims to help potential suppliers and contractors understand how Cardiff Council buys goods and services. The Commissioning and Procurement Team are working with Cardiff's Third Sector Council to explore how best to support the Third Sector to develop their general procurement skills, including supporting a training programme and the identification of a list of potential community benefit schemes that need the support of a contractor. The ultimate aim is for the Council to be able to direct contractors to a list of potential community benefit schemes that need their support to deliver benefits across Cardiff.

The Cabinet clarified that tenders are awarded on a combination of price and quality, and it is more likely that ethical employment considerations will be considered as part of the initial selection stage which determines whether suppliers/contractors are capable and suitable to deliver the contract requirements for the Council.

#### Draft Corporate Plan 2018-19

Following up on its policy development engagement with Delivering Capital Ambition and the Corporate Plan 2018-19 in December 2017, in January 2018 the Committee had an early pre-decision scrutiny opportunity of considering the Corporate Plan 2018-19. The Committee acknowledged that the series of opportunities afforded Scrutiny marked a significant step forward in facilitating scrutiny impact on the Council's strategic planning processes. Members specifically acknowledged that the Administration had sought to embed the Capital Ambition Delivery Programme within the Plan, and had sought alignment with the Public Service Board's Well-being Plan.

The Committee made many specific references to lines within the Plan, notably highlighting it considers that the Plan underplays the role Economic Development plays in achieving the objective '*A Capital City that works for Wales'*. They also considered performance measures (KPI's) for this objective were noticeably light.

The Committee's impact is evidenced by the consequential changes made to the Plan following the Committee's observations. The draft Plan:

- Included measures on employment growth.
- Added an objective to recognise the role of the City Deal in supporting Economic Development across the City and wider region.
- Included, under the well-being objective 'Modernising and Integrating our Public Services', the management of assets and property.
- Including an objective, and corresponding key performance indicator, focused on preventing young people from reoffending.

## Page 27

- Adding a performance measure reflecting the extent to which people believe they are capable of living independently following support from the Independent Living Services.
- Acknowledging the need for high-quality urban design, the Council will convene regular Design Reviews of proposals submitted to the Local Planning Authority and will make recommendations based on the views of the multi-disciplinary panel. Furthermore, proposing an annual Design Review Monitoring document is published, containing case studies and examples of recommendations made.
- Further developing the objective relating to a food strategy, to make clear what the strategy will seek to achieve.

The Committee commended Cabinet's unprecedented responsiveness to the Committee and the Performance Panel's concerns and observations, warmly welcoming the step forward in co-production of the Corporate Plan. However. Members sought further reassurance of a strong connection between the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations Act and the Corporate Plan, around the health aspects of the legislation, considering there was an opportunity to strengthen the Councils commitment to addressing health inequalities.

The Leader reassured the Committee of a strong connection and that all of the well-being objectives had been designed to maximise the authority's contribution to the goals. With regards to the Council's commitment to addressing health inequalities in the city through working with public service partners, he pointed out that each of the seven well-being objectives in the Corporate Plan contributes towards the national well-being goal of 'A healthier Wales'. For example, the Council recognises that poverty is one of the greatest contributory factors to poor health and, therefore, the 'Supporting People out of Poverty' objective in its entirety contributes towards this goal. Similarly, 'Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities' confirms that the Council will respond to the recommendations of the Parliamentary Review of Health & Social Care in Wales and includes performance measures about the number of individuals participating in parks/outdoor sport. In addition, 'Cardiff grows in a resilient way' includes both steps and performance measures around improving air quality and increasing active travel in Cardiff.

#### Draft Budget Proposals 2018-19

In February 2018 the Committee exercised its dual remit of scrutinising both the overarching Budget Proposals 2018-19, and the specific budget proposals of three directorates. In respect of the *whole Council* budget the Committee highlighted several concerns. Firstly that Council Tax was increasing by 5% despite the financial settlement being better than expected, noting that the employers pay award at 2% was the main reason given for this. Other concerns included the risk of debt impacting on the Council's overall budget; an additional £8.4m in the budget for Social Services, writing out a previous saving; that income generation was a repeated theme across Directorate budget savings proposals; and how achievable was the proposal to reduce dependency on agency spend across the recycling and waste services team, by improving attendance at work.

In respect of the *Resources Directorate* proposals the Committee observed a different culture, noting the Directorate's appetite to push boundaries, illustrated in services such as procurement. Members urged that no proposed savings should prevent digital progress. However, that care should be taken to ensure that e-billing does not exclude those who are not technically resourced.

In respect of the *Economic Development* proposals the Committee welcomed the comprehensive review of the Council's estate; was concerned about the removal of the International Pool subsidy, and the impact on charges, staffing and services; considered the Corporate Landlord Model offered the potential to put in place the controls required for successful management of the estate. In respect of *Governance & Legal Services* proposals the Committee noted the reduction of two posts from the scrutiny function and the consequence that there will be a reduction in the capacity to support members in undertaking task group inquiries.

In response the Cabinet Member reminded the Committee that the difference between a 1% and a 2% pay award is £2.8 million; drew attention to the Budget Report statement that whilst approving the Capital Programme for the period up to 2022/23 the later years of the programme will be subject to an on-going review of the Council's financial resilience; acknowledged that the savings proposed by Social Services were ambitious but it is important in these challenging times that directorates look at all savings opportunities and set themselves stretching targets in terms of their achievement.

## **Monitoring Improvement**

# Where the Committee has undertaken monitoring of the Council's improvement progress. In 2017/18, this included:

- Cardiff's Statutory Improvement Report 2016-17 (Oct '17)
- WAO Annual Improvement Report 2016-17(Oct'17)

#### Cardiff's Statutory Improvement Report 2016-17

In October 2017 the Committee monitored the Council's self-assessment of its improvement in the form of the Statutory Improvement Report 2016-17, requesting a future role in contributing to improvement planning and processes around target setting for the forthcoming Corporate Plan.

The Cabinet Member Finance, Modernisation and Performance confirmed that the Corporate Performance Team would be happy to work with the Committee's Performance Panel to provide a productive avenue through which to further develop the Committee's involvement with the Performance Management Framework and agenda.

#### WAO Annual Improvement Report 2016-17

Continuing the improvement theme, the Committee welcomed the Wales Audit Office, promoting strong links between internal Scrutiny and external Auditors as a way of ensuring the focus of its work during the year is appropriate.

The Committee has previously expressed some frustration at the volume of data it receives to assess how the Council is progressing on its improvement journey, and in future requested a simple summary and benchmarking as to whether the Council is performing well or otherwise. Members would also like detail on savings planning that includes the unintended consequences of planned savings; more information in respect of why change is necessary; and how the service can become more efficient.

In response the Committee was advised it is not possible to ascribe a simple, overarching status to the performance of the entire organisation. Members were advised that the Welsh Government's National Indicator and Public Accountability Measures system provides benchmarking, though this will be replaced with a new, improved set of indicators in 2018/19. In respect of savings planning, the general contingency is an important part of the Council's financial resilience, and had been reduced by 25% in 2017/18, from £4 million to £3 million. Directorates are not expected to see this contingency as a fall-back position and progress towards achieving planned savings is closely monitored and challenged throughout the year.

## **Short Scrutiny**

Where the Committee has examined in-depth work underway to address a significant issue the Council faces, commented on findings and action plans, giving the Cabinet the opportunity to know Scrutiny Member's views as they tackle a difficult issue. In 2017/18 this has included:

• Sickness Absence (Jan '18)

#### Sickness Absence

In January 2018 the Committee resurrected its long term interest in the significant challenge of tackling sickness absence with an opportunity for a short scrutiny to consider the findings of a review by APSE, and an outline action plan to address the findings. Following the scrutiny Members agreed that the Committee will continue its work and interest in sickness absence, and it will be looking for evidence of strong senior management leadership when it scrutinises progress on the action plan in July 2018.

The Committee followed its scrutiny by commissioning comparative research with GLL Leisure Services, to explore whether there are lessons that can be shared and effectively applied to the in-house delivery of services. Members recommended focus groups be held with frontline staff to ensure their voice in the consultative process, and considered more data is required around high levels of sickness absence within specific groups, and the culture at various levels within the organisation which may impact on this.

The Committee has been assured of support in working with scrutiny research, to share any learning with the Committee. Importantly strong leadership on sickness matters is underway and APSE has been engaged to ascertain whether there are any reasons as to why certain occupational groups would have higher sickness than others and what processes can be put in place to assist this.

## **Briefings post Cabinet**

Where timescales have not allowed for pre-decision or policy development scrutiny, and to ensure the Committee is kept informed of developments, proposals or progress, in 2017/18 this included:

• Budget Strategy 2018/19 Medium Term (Sept '17)

- Budget monitoring month 6 (Dec'17)
- Corporate Land and Property Management (April'18)

#### Budget Strategy 2018/19 Medium Term

In September 2017 the Committee considered the Council's Budget Strategy for 2018/19 and was reassured by a decrease in the forecast budget gap since February 2017, from £27m to £23.5m, and that a pay award of up to 2% would be planned for. Members sought clarification that achieving the £7m 2016/17 unmet savings remained a target; that the Cabinet intended to prevent a recurrence of missed savings targets in 2018/19 and that there would be close monitoring of budgets, particularly of those services that are overspending throughout the year, such as social services.

The Cabinet response confirmed that unmet savings from 2016/17 remain a target in the current financial year, and that savings are monitored on a monthly basis. All savings proposals undergo a risk rating for achievability and those identified as higher risk are subject to additional challenge. Budgets are monitored closely throughout the year and directorates receive detailed monthly monitoring information. Directorates currently reporting a projected overspend were acting to resolve the issues that led to the current position or alternatively, to identify offsetting savings in other areas of the service.

#### Budget monitoring month 6

The Committee proceeded to monitor the 2017/18 budget at month 6 in December 2017. Its main focus of concern was the overall savings shortfall of £1.782million, which appeared to be worsening. Members considered this situation could be due to unrealistic savings proposals, and concern as to whether the budget actually reflects the real cost of services such as Childrens Services, or whether a significant realignment of the budget is needed. Members were of the view that the projection of a balanced budget at month 6 had been achieved at a cost, particularly of unachieved savings and was a result of management action in holding staff vacancies.

In response the Cabinet confirmed that a £3.3 million realignment had been included for Children's Services to reflect known pressures and unachieved prior year savings proposals, again re-enforcing that savings are rigorously assessed at the point at which they are first proposed. Risk and planning status are kept under review throughout the budget setting process and reported upon within the Budget Report. However, in order to achieve significant levels of savings, there is a need for the Council to proceed with a level of manageable risk contained within the proposals.

#### **Corporate Land and Property Management 2018/19**

In April 2018 the Committee was briefed on the CLPMP for 2018/19. The Plan was considered realistic, the Council's core buildings had deteriorated significantly and Members heard that it will take until 2020 to address the maintenance backlog. There were longer term plans to undertake a review of the core office estate, and the Committee would include a progress briefing on core office accommodation on its work programme.

The Committee was advised of an extensive review of proposed disposals in the autumn. Members were keen to ensure that the Council maximises its returns for disposals, and that the CLPMP target of £40m is based on selling assets at the market rate.

Importantly, the Committee welcomed Cabinet's intention to consult ward members on proposed disposals, and requested an opportunity to contribute to the consultation. Members made strong representation that where properties serving a community purpose are identified for disposal there must be full and proper consultation with the community. Where property is considered appropriate for asset transfer to the community, Members feel that there is a case for involving the community to ensure the cost effectiveness and availability of properties.

## Task & Finish Scrutiny

Where the Committee considers there is an opportunity to examine in detail the issues and wider options available, to assist the Council in improving the way a service is delivered. In 2017/18 this included:

- Customer Leadership (published May '18)
- Managing the Estate under a Corporate Landlord Model
  (*published April '18*)

#### **Customer Leadership**

As part of the 2017/18 work programme the Committee agreed the terms of reference for a Task and Finish inquiry into the Council's approach to Customer Leadership. The group was set the task of exploring opportunities for embedding customer culture and leadership across the Council by reviewing existing best practice and making recommendations for improvement in Customer Leadership.

Members considered the views of internal and external customer service experts such as Admiral, Welsh Water and British Gas. Chaired by Councillor David Walker, five clear themes emerged from the evidence gathered: the *Vision and Strategy* required to embed customer service; the *Leadership* required to steer a customer focus; how *People* are central to embedding and delivering customer focus; the importance of understanding *Customer Expectations*; and what *Policies and Processes* need to be put in place to support a customer leadership focus.

The task group identified opportunities for placing the customer at the heart of Council's service delivery, requiring elevation of the profile of customer service both politically and operationally. Seven recommendations were developed from the inquiry's key findings for Cabinet's consideration centred on strengthening the customer focus of the Council's suite of strategic planning documents, by developing a new Customer Vision statement, a Customer Charter, and a Customer Service Strategy; Improving the Council's understanding of customer needs and expectations by involving the customer in business planning through customer research; Facilitating a step change in customer service awareness and understanding across all management roles, specifically giving the Chief Digital Officer a mandate and full authority to ensure council-wide consistency of customer service standards; Developing the culture, management accountability and customer training at all levels that will encourage consistency of service excellence; Securing opportunities for senior managers to experience first-hand the culture of Admiral and Welsh Water's customer leadership approach; and securing membership of the Institute of Customer Service as the professional body that could support the customer service development journey.

#### Managing the Estate under a Corporate Landlord Model

During work programming the Committee agreed the terms of reference for a second Task and Finish inquiry into managing the Council's non-residential estate centrally, under a Corporate Landlord model. A Task Group was tasked with: establishing the reasons for this approach, the scale of benefits for both the Council and Cardiff residents and to identify key challenges overcome by other local authorities which had introduced this model.

In November 2017 the Task and Finish group met for the first time. Over the following 6 months the Task Group, chaired by Councillor Joe Boyle, heard evidence from internal and external property and asset management experts, the Cabinet Member responsible for the proposed changes, Council service areas and other local authorities who had already implemented a Corporate Landlord model. The final report was approved by the Committee May 2018, with evidence presented under 3 principal emerging themes: *securing corporate buy-in* for the model,

*policies and processes* connected to implementation and the *benefits of successful implementation* of the model.

Recommendations for Cabinet's consideration were: Agree a clear statement of the Council's vision for the Corporate Landlord model to counter contradictory interpretations; Ensure political responsibility for the Corporate Landlord sits within a single Cabinet portfolio; Create a centralised Corporate Landlord management structure under the new Assistant Director (Corporate Landlord); Produce a Corporate Landlord executive summary annually as part of the budget setting process; Review and refresh as required the roles and responsibilities of the senior management team in respect of property matters; Put in place a preventative maintenance programme for all Council assets; Ensure that, during the first 12 months following the appointment of the Assistant Director (Corporate Landlord), Landlord and Occupancy Agreements are put in place for all Council properties and the terms agreed by relevant parties.

## **Call-in Scrutiny**

Where the Committee considers a request made by a non-executive Member to review a recent Cabinet decision on a specific subject within the Committees Terms of Reference, that has implications for the Council and the City. In 2017/18 this included:

• The disposal of Wedal Road Household Waste Recycling Centre land, Cathays, Cardiff. (*April '18*)

#### The disposal of Wedal Road HWRC

In April 2018 the Committee was asked to consider a call-in of Cabinet's decision to dispose of Wedal Road Household Waste Recycling Centre land off market. Following the scrutiny the Committee voted to refer the decision back to the Director of Economic Development as decision–maker, for further consideration. In referring the

decision back Members were unanimous that officers had followed the appropriate protocol in taking this decision, however encouraged a review of the disposals protocol as a matter of urgency. The Committee understands the importance of public sector partnership relations, and that overall the Council benefits from good relations in equal measure. However, it considered that in this specific case wider marketing to potentially interested parties, such as housing associations, would have been appropriate. Therefore it concluded that the land at Wedal Road should not have been removed from public auction given the pressing need for the Council to deliver £40million from disposals in 2018/19. A further option to maximise income to the Council would have been to take the property to public auction with a higher reserve.

In addition the Committee wrote to the Director of Legal and Governance expressing its view that the decision –maker should have the authority to seek more than one independent valuation, particularly when the asset is substantial or where there has been political challenge and community concern. The Committee's view was that this restriction may need to be reconsidered, to ensure the Council is supported in its need to maximise income from disposals.

The Director of Economic Development subsequently confirmed that he believes the process is fit for purpose and does not need to be changed, confirming that he was satisfied that the valuation report provided for the Wedal Road site disposal was robust, but that given the political interest in the disposal, he intended to refer the decision to Cabinet.

30

#### **Future Work Programming Opportunities 2018/19**

There are a number of items that will need to be carried forward and re-visited following this year's work. Topics commended to the Committee of 2018/19 for consideration in its work planning include:

- Partnership scrutiny of the PSB the Committee continues to perform strategic overview scrutiny of the PSB's performance going forward, particularly the first annual report pf progress on the Boards Well-being Plan. In addition the Chair considers attending the PSB as invited to establish strong lines of open accountability, and benefit both parties.
- **PSB Governance arrangements** Committee plan to scrutinise the governance arrangements of the PSB in June 2018.
- Workforce Strategy Committee has requested sight of the action plans that will sit beneath the Workforce Strategy, and resolved to monitor what has been achieved six months on from implementation.
- Employee Health and Well-being programme Committee propose in-depth scrutiny of the Employee Health and Well-being programme, particularly how the occupational health programme has been performing for the Council in 2018.
- **Performance Scrutiny** Chair to discuss with the Cabinet Member how the new Performance and Delivery Group could work constructively with the Committee in the future. Note that the Council's Corporate Performance Team will be very happy to support the Committee's Performance Panel. The Cabinet Member considers this will provide a very productive avenue through which to further develop the Committee's involvement with the Performance Management Framework and agenda, as a key stakeholder in both its development and implementation. Additionally programme scrutiny of Quarter 4 and year-end performance information by the full committee in June 2018.

- **Sickness Absence** continue the Committee's work and interest in sickness absence. Give consideration to the content of the action plan in place, and prioritise monitoring of the Plan in July 2018.
- Core Office Estate progress briefing and scrutiny of Cabinet's longer term plans to undertake a review of the core office estate, including City Hall.
- **Proposed property disposals** an extensive review of proposed disposals is planned in the autumn, Committee would welcome sight of the proposals, and an opportunity to contribute to the consultation.

#### COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

- To scrutinise, monitor and review the overall operation of the Cardiff Programme for Improvement and the effectiveness of the general implementation of the Council's policies, aims and objectives.
- To scrutinise, monitor and review the effectiveness of the Council's systems of financial control and administration and use of human resources.
- To assess the impact of partnerships with, and resources and services provided by, external organisations including the Welsh Government, joint local government services, Welsh Government Sponsored Public Bodies and quasi-departmental non-government bodies on the effectiveness of Council service delivery.
- To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to make recommendations on measures which may enhance Council performance in this area.

Scrutiny Services, City and County of Cardiff, Room 263d, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW Tel: 02920 873017 Email: <u>scrutinyviewpoints@cardiff.gov.uk</u> © 2017 City and County of Cardiff Council

# NOTICE OF MOTION

# MOTION 1

- PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR KEITH JONES
- SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR LEE BRIDGEMAN

## AMENDMENT 1 TO MOTION 1

- PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR MIKE JONES PRITCHARD
- SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR JAYNE COWAN

## AMENDMENT 2 TO MOTION 1

- PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR JOE BOYLE
- SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR EMMA SANDREY



## COUNCIL

#### **MOTION 1**

Proposed by: Councillor Keith Jones

Seconded by: Councillor Lee Bridgeman

This Council recognises the outstanding achievements of our City's sports teams this year and congratulates:

- 1. Cardiff City on their promotion to the Premier League;
- 2. Cardiff Blues on their success on winning the European Challenge Cup Final;
- 3. Cardiff Devils on winning both the Elite League and Elite League Playoffs.

This Council notes the importance of Community Sports Clubs and the success of many of our local teams across the City and the vital role they play in community cohesion and in improving the Health and Wellbeing of the City.

The Council further notes the importance Cardiff Council places on getting more girls into sport which includes Sports Cardiff's Girls Together event which will see 300 Primary School and 300 Secondary School girls take part in sporting events to mark International Women's Day in 2019.

The Council supports the work that the Council's Sports Development team do in partnership with Cardiff Met University and the 2012/13 decision to give free access to under 16s to our Park Sporting facilities.

The Council recognises the investment that the Council has made in improving sports facilities including improvements to changing rooms and the installation of 3G pitches.

This Council therefore resolves that sport is continued to be made available to children of all means and that it will continue to give free access to our parks facilities for all under 16s for organised sport and work with all our Elite clubs to continue this sporting renaissance in our city.



### COUNCIL

#### AMENDMENT 2 TO MOTION 1

Proposed by: Councillor Mike Jones-Pritchard

Seconded by: Councillor Jayne Cowan

In line one, add "all" after achievements of, and delete "this year"

Add point 4. "The City's many amateur teams including Cardiff AAC who also achieved promotion to the Premiership of the British Athletics League last season".

In the last paragraph add, after organised sport "*and ensure that the sports areas are maintained on a regular basis*"

The Amended Motion would read as follows:

This Council recognises the outstanding achievements of all our City's sports teams and congratulates:

- 1. Cardiff City on their promotion to the Premier League;
- 2. Cardiff Blues on their success on winning the European Challenge Cup Final;
- 3. Cardiff Devils on winning both the Elite League and Elite League Playoffs
- 4. The City's many amateur teams including Cardiff AAC who also achieved promotion to the Premiership of the British Athletics League last season.

This Council notes the importance of Community Sports Clubs and the success of many of our local teams across the City and the vital role they play in community cohesion and in improving the Health and Wellbeing of the City.

The Council further notes the importance Cardiff Council places on getting more girls into sport which includes Sports Cardiff's Girls Together event which will see 300 Primary School and 300 Secondary School girls take part in sporting events to mark International Women's Day in 2019.

The Council supports the work that the Council's Sports Development team do in partnership with Cardiff Met University and the 2012/13 decision to give free access to under 16s to our Park Sporting facilities.

The Council recognises the investment that the Council has made in improving sports facilities including improvements to changing rooms and the installation of 3G pitches.

This Council therefore resolves that sport is continued to be made available to children of all means and that it will continue to give free access to our parks facilities for all under 16s for organised sport and ensure that the sports areas are maintained on a regular basis and work with all our Elite clubs to continue this sporting renaissance in our city.



## COUNCIL

#### AMENDMENT 1 TO MOTION 1

Proposed by: Councillor Joe Boyle

Seconded by: Councillor Emma Sandrey

Add a Pont 4 – 4. Cardiff Metropolitan Ladies for lifting the Welsh Premier Women's League title, meaning they will represent Wales in the UEFA Women's Champions' League in the forthcoming season.

Second Paragraph add an additional sentence at the end "Nonetheless, the Council regrets those instances where community sports teams and groups have been evicted from Council facilities".

Third paragraph at the end of the sentence remove the full stop and replace with a comma and add the following: - "but has concerns that Better Leisure's over-16s requirement for female swimming sessions stops young girls and their mothers from participating together in a sport they enjoy and with which they feel comfortable".

Fifth paragraph at the end of the sentence remove the full stop and replace with a comma and add the following – *"while regretting the loss of facilities such as bowling greens and instances where the poor quality of sports pitches has forced local teams to relocate".* 

Sixth paragraph after the words "*This Council*" add the following words "*also* notes that handing over the running of leisure centres to a private company has not delivered all the benefits that we were promised and"

The amended Motion would read

This Council recognises the outstanding achievements of our City's sports teams this year and congratulates:

- 1. Cardiff City on their promotion to the Premier League;
- 2. Cardiff Blues on their success on winning the European Challenge Cup Final;
- 3. Cardiff Devils on winning both the Elite League and Elite League Playoffs.
- 4. Cardiff Metropolitan Ladies for lifting the Welsh Premier Women's League title, meaning they will represent Wales in the UEFA Women's

Champions' League in the forthcoming season.

This Council notes the importance of Community Sports Clubs and the success of many of our local teams across the City and the vital role they play in community cohesion and in improving the Health and Wellbeing of the City. Nonetheless, the Council regrets those instances where community sports teams and groups have been evicted from Council facilities.

The Council further notes the importance Cardiff Council places on getting more girls into sport which includes Sports Cardiff's Girls Together event which will see 300 Primary School and 300 Secondary School girls take part in sporting events to mark International Women's Day in 2019, but has concerns that Better Leisure's over-16s requirement for female swimming sessions stops young girls and their mothers from participating together in a sport they enjoy and with which they feel comfortable.

The Council supports the work that the Council's Sports Development team do in partnership with Cardiff Met University and the 2012/13 decision to give free access to under 16s to our Park Sporting facilities.

The Council recognises the investment that the Council has made in improving sports facilities including improvements to changing rooms and the installation of 3G pitches, while regretting the loss of facilities such as bowling greens and instances where the poor quality of sports pitches has forced local teams to relocate.

This Council also notes that handing over the running of leisure centres to a private company has not delivered all the benefits that we were promised and therefore resolves that sport is continued to be made available to children of all means and that it will continue to give free access to our parks facilities for all under 16s for organised sport and work with all our Elite clubs to continue this sporting renaissance in our city.

# NOTICE OF MOTION

# MOTION 2

- PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR MIKE PRITCHARD JONES
- SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR JOEL WILLIAMS

# AMENDMENT TO MOTION 1

- PROPOSED BY: COUNCILLOR ED STUBBS
- SECONDED BY: COUNCILLOR SUE LENT



## COUNCIL

#### **MOTION 2**

Proposed by: Councillor Mike Jones-Pritchard

Seconded by: Councillor Joel Williams

This Council recognises the positive steps set out in the Council's Capital Ambition document to make sure every child in Cardiff goes to a good or excellent school and that around half of schools are either good or excellent. It also recognises the good work of officers, teachers, governors and others, involved in education in Cardiff that has brought about the improvement in standards in recent years and the continuing need and drive to further improve standards across all levels and in all areas of Cardiff.

This Council recognises that Capital Ambition states that:

- We will close the attainment gap in schools so that no child is left behind
- Education is one of the surest routes out of poverty
- Education is everyone's business
- We must invest in aspiration and life chances from an early age
- We must work to align funding from across the public and third sectors ... around what each individual child and family needs
- Early intervention is critical
- We need to provide lasting solutions to complex problems
- That every citizen will have the chance to fulfil their potential and
- That the key to long term success and prosperity of a city lies in how it chooses to invest in aspiration and life chances from an early age.

This motion calls upon the Cabinet to be even more ambitious and to deal with a critical need, not referred to, or identified, in Capital Ambition, which is the deplorable situation of the significant number of children, in all areas of the city, who join nursery with limited language and social skills, who have minimal self-help or personal care skills, with many unable to use the toilet or hold a cup.

It calls upon the Council to work across service areas and, with other organisations, to develop, and put in place, an initiative to enable those parents and carers of preschool age children, to have ready access to Flying Start, or similar provision, in every primary school in Cardiff where there is the need. A provision where support and guidance on positive parenting, child care and development etc. can be accessed without stigma, to enable us to ensure that all children in Cardiff, whether they live in an area classed as deprived, or not, and whose parents or carers need help, have the opportunity to start nursery at the expected level and stage of development.



## COUNCIL

#### AMENDMENT TO MOTION 2

Proposed by: Councillor Ed Stubbs

Seconded by: Councillor Sue Lent

Delete all from paragraph 2 (below the bullet points) and replace with:

The Council recognises that there continues to be many young children across the city who do not meet their developmental milestones and whose families require a range of non-stigmatised support, in order for these children to start nursery education at the expected level and stage of development.

Family support programmes like Flying Start go some way to addressing the needs of these families, offering an intensive package of support. The intensive nature of the package however, means that to currently offer the programme to 5000 0-3 year olds, it costs £10m; approximately £2k per child, per year.

This motion calls upon the Cabinet to continue to work towards developing a broader family support model that will build on the practice provided through programmes like Flying Start.

This will include:

- Through Families First funding, extending the offer of parenting support to all families across the city that have children aged 0-16 (18 where a young person has been identified as vulnerable).
- Implementing the Childcare Offer which will provide eligible working parents of 3 and 4 year olds with 30 hours of funded early years education (Foundation Phase Nursery FPN) and childcare per week, for up to 48 weeks a year. This will start to be phased in across the city from September 2018.
- Supporting the Cardiff and Vale UHB in the implementation of Healthy Child Wales Programme across Cardiff. This is a universal health programme for all families with 0 7 year old children.
- Develop a preventative Support for Families Service, aimed at supporting families and those professionals working with them (e.g. schools, youth workers etc.), in accessing the right support at the right time, before the need for statutory intervention.

The combination of these approaches, combined with the continued drive to improve standards is aimed at improving the life chances of our youngest citizens in Cardiff and reducing the attainment gap, so that no child is left behind. The Amended Motion would read as follows:

This Council recognises the positive steps set out in the Council's Capital Ambition document to make sure every child in Cardiff goes to a good or excellent school and that around half of schools are either good or excellent. It also recognises the good work of officers, teachers, governors and others, involved in education in Cardiff that has brought about the improvement in standards in recent years and the continuing need and drive to further improve standards across all levels and in all areas of Cardiff.

This Council recognises that Capital Ambition states that:

- We will close the attainment gap in schools so that no child is left behind
- Education is one of the surest routes out of poverty
- Education is everyone's business
- We must invest in aspiration and life chances from an early age
- We must work to align funding from across the public and third sectors around what each individual child and family needs
- Early intervention is critical
- We need to provide lasting solutions to complex problems
- That every citizen will have the chance to fulfil their potential and
- That the key to long term success and prosperity of a city lies in how it chooses to invest in aspiration and life chances from an early age.

The Council recognises that there continues to be many young children across the city who do not meet their developmental milestones and whose families require a range of non-stigmatised support, in order for these children to start nursery education at the expected level and stage of development.

Family support programmes like Flying Start go some way to addressing the needs of these families, offering an intensive package of support. The intensive nature of the package however, means that to currently offer the programme to 5000 0-3 year olds, it costs £10m; approximately £2k per child, per year.

This motion calls upon the Cabinet to continue to work towards developing a broader family support model that will build on the practice provided through programmes like Flying Start.

This will include:

- Through Families First funding, extending the offer of parenting support to all families across the city that have children aged 0-16 (18 where a young person has been identified as vulnerable).
- Implementing the Childcare Offer which will provide eligible working parents of 3 and 4 year olds with 30 hours of funded early years education (Foundation Phase Nursery - FPN) and childcare per week, for

up to 48 weeks a year. This will start to be phased in across the city from September 2018.

- Supporting the Cardiff and Vale UHB in the implementation of Healthy Child Wales Programme across Cardiff. This is a universal health programme for all families with 0 7 year old children.
- Develop a preventative Support for Families Service, aimed at supporting families and those professionals working with them (e.g. schools, youth workers etc.), in accessing the right support at the right time, before the need for statutory intervention.

The combination of these approaches, combined with the continued drive to improve standards is aimed at improving the life chances of our youngest citizens in Cardiff and reducing the attainment gap, so that no child is left behind.



COUNCIL :

#### ORAL QUESTIONS

1	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MICHAEL (CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING & ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR ROBSON
	What more can be done to reduce Cardiff's Carbon footprint?
2	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR GOODWAY (INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR BERMAN
	In the light of the ongoing economic challenges we are seeing to the high street (both here in Cardiff and across the UK) as most acutely highlighted by the recent announcement of the forthcoming closure of the city's House of Fraser store together with the major gap this will leave in Cardiff's retail offer, what plans do you have to alter the council's economic strategy to adopt an innovative approach that can leave us best placed to adapt to such challenges, and how will you seek to deliver it?
3	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR WILD (STRATEGIC PLANNING AND TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR McGARRY
	Can the Cabinet Member please tell me what the criteria are for prioritising road safety schemes in the City?
4	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MICHAEL (CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING & ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR HUDSON
	To generate income, can Cardiff Council seek and encourage sponsorship from individuals, groups, organisations and business for planters, trees, benches, lighting etc.?

5	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR WILD (STRATEGIC PLANNING AND TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR SANDREY
	The area investigation report for last year, which identifies planning, transport and environmental priorities, has yet to be published. I was first told that the report would be published in early 2018, then May 2018, and now I have been told that due to staff resource issues, the area investigation report for last year has no definitive timescale for publication. Residents who have asked for areas to be reviewed as part of this report are rightly frustrated by this delay. When will the report see the light of day?
6	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR BRADBURY (CULTURE AND LEISURE PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR OWEN JONES
	Can the cabinet member tell me what plans does Cardiff Council have to address Anti Social Behaviour in our Parks?
7	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MERRY (EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR PHILLIPS
	The schools buildings programme will see hundreds of millions of pounds committed with contractors. How will quality control throughout these works be managed and what contractual controls will be put in place?
8	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR GOODWAY (INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR CARTER
	What is the rationale for evicting popular local charities, providing support from cradle to grave, from the Llanedeyrn Sports Hall?

9	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR ELSMORE
	(SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR BURKE-DAVIES
	Parents have a legal right to breastfeed anywhere under the 2010 Equality Act, but many do not feel confident doing so. Can the cabinet member give a statement on what Cardiff can do to make breastfeeding welcome & accessible to families across the city?
10	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR HINCHEY (CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR BOWDEN
	Young people in the residential care of this Local Authority are required to leave this care at the age of 18. However, those in foster care have the right to 'stay put' until the age of 21. What is this Council doing to end this difference in care provision and to enable every young person in our care the chance to 'stay put' until the age of 21?
11	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MICHAEL
	(CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING & ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR COWAN
	How much does it cost to send a waste vehicle and crew back to a property for a missed collection?
12	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MERRY (EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR MOLIK
	Parents in Cyncoed & Lakeside, who have lived in the area for several years, children with compelling health reasons or siblings at local primary school are being refused a place in their local primary school and schools within over 2 mile radius. Does the council recognise they are failing to meet needs of families and there is a lack of school capacity in the area?

13	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR THORNE (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR DILWAR ALI
	Can the cabinet member make a statement regarding the removal and replacement of cladding in high rise council-owned buildings throughout Cardiff?
14	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR WILD (STRATEGIC PLANNING AND TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR ROBSON
	Has any consideration been giving to phasing traffic lights in favour of buses which are running behind schedule?
15	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR GOODWAY (INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR SANDREY
	My ward colleagues and I first had a meeting with Cllr Russell Goodway in February, regarding the empty My Local/Pentwyn Arms unit on Pentwyn Drive – we have heard nothing since then, despite talk of monthly meetings and despite my having chased the issue via email. When can we expect an update on this matter?
16	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR MICHAEL (CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING & ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR McGARRY
	In 2013 there was an advertising campaign; called "The Usual Suspects" to educate people as to what littering offences were punishable with a fine. Does the Cabinet Member have any plans for another campaign in the near future, as I believe this is needed?

17	QUESTION TO COUNTY COUNCILLOR BRADBURY (CULTURE AND LEISURE PORTFOLIO)
	QUESTION FROM COUNTY COUNCILLOR COWAN
	Will the Cabinet Member advise how many play areas under the ownership of the Council have had play equipment removed since 2017, and how many are awaiting funding for the pieces to be replaced or repaired?
	Can we be provided with the cost breakdowns and also the wards?